### **RECEIVED**

08-12-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2015AP001072-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ESEQUIEL MORALES-PEDROSA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable S. Michael Wilk Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to an expert's testimony that 90% of child sexual assault allegations are true, and other acts evidence that the defendant had sex with the alleged victim B.M.'s mother when she was the same age as B.M.

The circuit court denied both claims in postconviction proceedings.

2. Whether Mr. Morales-Pedrosa's right to confront his accusers was violated when the alleged victim was excused from trial before the State introduced her testimonial hearsay statements.

The circuit court overruled trial counsel's objections.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested but would be welcomed if ordered. Publication may be warranted because there is no Wisconsin law determining the admissibility of an expert's testimony about the occurrence rate of false accusations in child sexual assault cases.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Morales-Pedrosa was accused of sexually assaulting his daughter B.M. when she was between 13 and 15 years old. (1). The original complaint listed 20 counts; however, several counts were dismissed prior to trial,

including count 1, which alleged that Mr. Morales-Pedrosa sexually assaulted his wife by having sex with her when she was 13 or 14 years old (almost two decades prior to charging).

The amended information listed 14 counts. (28). The 14 counts arose from three alleged incidents: (1) November or December 2008, (2) August 2010, and (3) May 6, 2012.

The witnesses at trial were the alleged victim B.M., her mother Pauline, her sister Theresa, student liaison Gary Vargas, child protective services investigator Julie Ortiz, social worker Julie McGuire, Officer Willie Hamilton, and Detective David May.

B.M. was 18 years old at the time of trial. (118:38). She testified that the sexual assaults involved sexual contact and intercourse during which Mr. Morales-Pedrosa used his finger and/or mouth, and touched her breasts. (118:57-60, 70-74). She testified that the assaults all occurred in a bedroom in an apartment she shared with her parents, older brother, and three sisters. (118:40-41). She testified that the first two times it happened, in November 2008 and August 2010, she fought Mr. Morales-Pedrosa back. (118:63, 75, 115). She testified that the first time, he hit her with his fists and a belt, and there was yelling and screaming. (118:115). B.M. denied that Mr. Morales-Pedrosa took down his pants, but the prosecutor confronted her with her prior statement that he tried to place his penis in her vagina but was not successful. (118:61). Both incidents allegedly happened in a room that had a curtain instead of a door. (118:66, 113, 136). B.M. acknowledged that the apartment had thin walls and you could hear what was going in other rooms. (118:115). B.M.'s sisters and brother were home at the time of the alleged assaults. (118 64, 76, 115). However, no family members said they heard anything going on in the room. B.M.'s 14-year-old sister, Theresa, testified that sometimes she saw her dad take B.M. into a room and shut the door; however, she never heard anything happening inside. (119:106, 110). She did not remember seeing him take B.M. into a room on or about any of the charged dates. (119:110).

In September 2011, B.M. told her school counselor Gary Vargas that something was going on with her dad. (118:77). Mr. Vargas testified that B.M. hinted that she was not feeling safe at home. (118:168). He testified that she indicated her dad was touching her. (118:178). However, he acknowledged that the subject of "touching" was brought up by him, not B.M. (118:190). A social worker from child protective services, Julie Ortiz, came to see B.M., but B.M. declined to speak with her. (118:186). B.M. told Ms. Ortiz that she felt safe at home, but that her dad was strict and they could do more when he was not at home. (118:188, 209). Ms. Ortiz became aware that Mr. Morales-Pedrosa may have moved out of the house, and she closed the case as unsubstantiated. (118:204, 207).

B.M. testified that the final incident happened on May 6, 2012, while her sisters were watching TV and her brother was in his bedroom. (118:82-86). Approximately one week later, on May 13, 2012, B.M.'s mom Pauline and Mr. Morales-Pedrosa got into a fight. Pauline took B.M. and her sisters to the police station to get a restraining order against Mr. Morales-Pedrosa. (119:50-52). While at the police station, Pauline told an officer that something strange was going on with B.M. (119:53). B.M. spoke with Officer Willie Hamilton in a private room and provided a written statement accusing Mr. Morales-Pedrosa of sexual assault. (119:18-19). The next day, she repeated her

accusations to Detective David May and provided another written statement. (119:129, 132).

In September 2012, B.M. wrote a letter recanting her accusations. (118:100). She said she made it up because her dad was too strict. (118:158). Pauline also submitted a letter to the court claiming that B.M. lied. At trial, B.M. testified that she wrote the letter because she wanted to protect her family, but that her original statement was the truth. (118:101-102). Pauline claimed she felt pressured to write her letter because everyone was saying the accusations were not true and she was having financial difficulties without Mr. Morales-Pedrosa in the home. (119:62). The prosecutor visited B.M. at her school, at which point B.M. returned to her original story. (118:102).

After B.M. testified, the court excused her. Later, Gary Vargas, Pauline Morales, and Julie Ortiz each testified to what B.M. had disclosed to them. Defense counsel objected on hearsay grounds and the confrontation clause because B.M. was not available for cross-examination. (118:183).

Social worker Julie McGuire was called by the State to testify about common behaviors exhibited by child sexual assault victims. She did not interview B.M. Ms. McGuire testified that there are commonalities in ways children disclose abuse. Children commonly delay disclosing, test the waters by revealing a little bit at a time, have difficulty remembering dates and times, and often recant their allegations. The prosecutor asked her, "[a]nd in your experience- - in your training and experience when you're eliminating the alternative hypotheses, is it commonly understood that approximately 90 percent of reported cases are true?" Ms. McGuire said "correct." (119:200).

Mr. Morales-Pedrosa was convicted of all counts. On December 5, 2013, the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael Wilk presiding, imposed a global sentence of 80 years imprisonment, with 50 years of initial confinement and 30 years of extended supervision. (70).

On January 14, 2015, Mr. Morales-Pedrosa filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial. (86). He alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for: (1) not objecting to the social worker's testimony that 90% of child sexual assault allegations are true; (2) not objecting to other acts evidence that the defendant and B.M. "had sex;" (3) not objecting to other acts evidence that the defendant had sex with B.M.'s mother when she was the same age as B.M., and (4) not objecting to the prosecutor's improper closing argument. <sup>1</sup>

The circuit court conducted a *Machner*<sup>2</sup> hearing on February 24, 2015. (124). The parties subsequently briefed the issues. (90; 92; 93). And on May 5, 2015, the court made an oral ruling denying the defendant's motion. (125). A written order was entered on May 11, 2015. (94). A timely notice of appeal was filed (95), and this appeal follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Issues two and four are not being raised on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Mr. Morales-Pedrosa is Entitled to a New Trial Because He Was Denied His Constitutional Right to Effective Representation of Counsel.
  - A. Standard of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Criminal defendants are guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 259, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997). In assessing whether trial counsel's performance satisfied constitutional standard, Wisconsin courts apply the two-part test outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). In order to establish that he was denied effective representation, the defendant must demonstrate both that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's errors or omissions were prejudicial to his defense. *Id.* 

Effective counsel must be a "prudent lawyer" who is "skilled and versed in the criminal law." *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983). When the court examines counsel's conduct in a particular case, the court does not ratify it merely because the attorney had a trial strategy. *Id.* at 502. Rather, counsel's decisions "must be based upon facts and law upon which an ordinarily prudent lawyer would have then relied." *Id.* at 503. The court "will in fact second-guess a lawyer if the initial guess is one that demonstrates an irrational trial tactic or if it is based upon caprice rather than upon judgment." *Id.* 

To establish prejudice, the defendant must show that, but for trial counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶29, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111. "A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* 

This Court accepts the trial court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous; however, whether the attorney's conduct was deficient and prejudicial are questions of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 376, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987).

B. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to social worker Julie McGuire's testimony that 90% of child sexual assault accusations are true.

Social worker Julie McGuire was qualified as an expert for trial.<sup>3</sup> The prosecutor asked her, "[a]nd in your experience—in your training and experience when you're eliminating the alternative hypotheses, is it commonly understood that approximately 90 percent of reported cases are true." Ms. McGuire answered, "[c]orrect." (119:200). Defense counsel did not object.

It is well-established law that one witness may not give an opinion on the veracity of another witness's testimony. *State v. Haseltine*, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984). "Such testimony invades the province of the fact-finder as the sole determiner of credibility." *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶104, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The admissibility of expert testimony is governed by Wis. Stat. § 907.02.

In *Haseltine*, the State called a psychiatrist as an expert to testify about behaviors exhibited by incest victims. The psychiatrist also opined that there "was no doubt whatsoever" that Haseltine's daughter was an incest victim. *Id.* at 95-96. This Court reversed, holding that "this opinion testimony goes too far."

Expert testimony should assist the jury. Section 907.02, Stats. The credibility of a witness is ordinarily something a lay juror can knowledgeably determine without the help of an expert opinion. "[T]he jury is the lie detector in the courtroom." The opinion that Haseltine's daughter was an incest victim is an opinion that she was telling the truth. There is no indication that Haseltine's daughter had any physical or mental disorder that might affect her credibility. (Internal citations omitted). No witness, expert or otherwise, should be permitted to give an opinion that another mentally and physically competent witness is telling the truth."

#### *Id.* at 96.

While the rule against vouching applies to all witnesses, it is especially harmful coming from an expert. "The psychiatrist's opinion, with its aura of scientific reliability, creates too great a possibility that the jury abdicated its fact-finding role to the psychiatrist and did not independently decide Haseltine's guilt." *Id.* at 196.

The rule against vouching can be violated even if the witness does not use the specific words "I believe her" or "she's telling the truth." As the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained in *Kleser*:

We are not persuaded that the vouching rule becomes inapplicable simply because a witness does not use specific words such as "I believe X is telling the truth," or is inapplicable because X never testified as a witness.

There is no requirement that an expert explicitly testify that she believes a person is telling the truth for the expert's opinion to constitute improper vouching testimony. In *Haseltine*, for example, the expert testified only implicitly that the victim was telling the truth. A requirement that specific words be used would permit the rule to be circumvented easily.

328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶102 (emphasis added).

Ms. McGuire's testimony that 90% of child sexual assault accusations are true violated the *Haseltine* rule. Although she did not say "B.M. is an incest victim," her statistical vouching accomplished the same result. It informed the jury that there was a very low probability that B.M. was lying. This testimony did not assist the jury; rather it "usurp[ed] their role as 'lie detector in the courtroom." *Haseltine*, 120 Wis. 2d at 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (quoting *United States v. Barnard*, 490 F.2d 907, 912 (9th Cir.1973)).

While Wisconsin does not appear to have any case law directly on point, several federal and state courts have held that such testimony is improper. In *United States v. Brooks*, 64 M.J. 325 (C.A.A.F. 2007), the United States Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces held that an expert should not be allowed to testify that false accusations occur about 5% of the time. "This testimony provided a mathematical statement approaching certainty about the reliability of the victim's credibility and truthfulness." *Id.* at 329.

In *Snowden v. Singletary*, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals held that testimony that 99.5% of children tell the truth was improper and amounted to a denial of fundamental fairness. 135 F.3d 732, 739 (11th Cir. 1998).

Witness credibility is the sole province of the jury. Very rarely will a state evidentiary error rise to a federal constitutional error; but given the circumstances of the trial underlying this case, we conclude that allowing expert testimony to boost the credibility of the main witness against Snowden-considering the lack of other evidence of guilt-violated his right to due process by making his criminal trial fundamentally unfair.

Likewise, in Wilson v. State, 90 S.W.3d 391 (Tex. App. 2002), the Texas Court of Appeals held that the "trial court erred by allowing [expert] to testify about what percentage of children lie about being sexually assaulted" because it "did not aid, but supplanted, the jury in its decision on whether the child complainant's testimony was credible." See also, Wheat v. State, 527 A.2d 269, 274-75 (DE 1987) (conviction reversed because expert's testimony "in effect provided a statistical evaluation of the complainant's present veracity."); State v. Lindsey, 720 P.2d 73, 75 (AZ 1986) (testimony that "most people in the field feel that it's a very small proportion [of incest victims] that lie" is "tantamount to expert evidence on the question of guilt or innocence"); State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91, 92–93 (IA 1986) (testimony that "[s]tatistically... children have not lied in [the area of child sexual abuse]" and that "it is my opinion that it is very rare" is "comparable to telling the jury that the complainant would not lie about matters concerning sexual abuse"); see also McCord, David, Expert Psychological Testimony About Child Complainants in Sexual Abuse Prosecutions: A Foray into the Admissibility of Novel Psychological Evidence, 77 J.CRIM.L. & CRIMINOLOGY 1, 53 (1986) ("Expert opinion that it is rare for children to fabricate or fantasize claims of sexual abuse ... vouches for the complainant's credibility because it concludes that the complainant is almost certainly telling the truth.").

Moreover, the reliability of such testimony is suspect. As Professor McCord notes in his law review article, cited above, "there has been very little empirical research concerning the extent to which children lie or fantasize in making claims of sexual abuse, and the fact that it is difficult to see how such empirical research could be conducted." Instead, "the feeling in the scientific community that deals with sexually abused children is that it is indeed rare for this to happen." Id. at 54-55. "A feeling" in the scientific community is not a proper subject of expert testimony. Wis. Stat. § 907.02 (expert may give opinion "if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable *principles and methods*." (emphasis added)). A concern over reliability also arises from the wide range of statistics cited in the aforementioned cases. In the instant case, the expert testified that 90% of accusations were true. In **Brooks**, the expert testified that 5% of allegations were untrue. In *Wilson*, the expert testified that 2-8% of allegations were untrue. In *Snowden*, the expert testified that 99.5% of accusations were true.

**Professor** McCord additionally notes the incompatibility between the reasonable doubt standard and probability analysis. Also, he expresses concern that a jury will be overwhelmed by the "overbearing impressiveness of numbers." "In most human situations there exist factors which simply cannot be quantified." Moreover, an average juror likely does not have a helpful understanding of what probabilities do and do not prove, and this lack of understanding extends to lawyers as well. "There is a real possibility that an understanding of probabilities thorough enough to permit an effective cross-examination may be beyond the ability of many lawyers." (McCord, supra p. 10, at 55).

In the instant case, the erroneous admission of the 90% figure was compounded during closing arguments when the

prosecutor emphasized Ms. McGuire's improper testimony. The prosecutor stated, "[a]nother thing Julie McGuire told you is that the research also shows 90 percent of reported cases are true." (121:159). This is like in *Snowden v. Singletary*, in which the United States Court of Appeals held that the error was made more harmful by prosecutor's argument to the jury, in which he stressed the significance of the expert's opinion. *Snowden*, 135 F.3d 732 at 738.

The circuit court denied this claim because it found that "defendant's trial attorney [said] that strategically he felt it was not – it was not vouching, that he didn't object because he thought it was - - it was fair and reasonable I should say in terms of strategy." (124:33, App. 111; 124: 15, App. 145). This Court should disagree. An erroneous view of the law is not a reasonable strategy. Furthermore, the court found that the decision not to object fit within "a theme that goes through some of the decisions that [trial counsel] made, and they were generally of the nature of I didn't want to draw attention to it." (125:34, App. 112). However, defense counsel never said he did not object for this reason. Finally, the court was persuaded by defense counsel's explanation that he did not object because when the question had been asked in other trials, the answer was less favorable. (125:34, App. 112; 124:15, App. 145). This argument is not persuasive because, had counsel mounted the proper objection, and had the court sustained the objection, no testimony about the percentage of false allegations would have been allowed.

Defense counsel's explanations are not only unpersuasive, they are also suspect. Counsel objected to the prosecutor's use of the 90% figure during closing argument, stating the figure was not in evidence. (121: 159-60). The nature of the objection suggests that counsel had not registered the testimony, which undermines his explanation

for why he did not object when the evidence was first introduced. At the *Machner* hearing, he testified that he did not recall why he objected to the prosecutor's closing argument. (125: 17-18, App. 147-148).

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