### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-07-2015

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2015AP1072-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ESEQUIEL MORALES-PEDROSA,

Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, S. MICHAEL WILK, JUDGE

#### BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The attorney who represented Morales-Pedrosa at his trial was not ineffective for failing to object to certain evidence.

A criminal defendant who claims his attorney was ineffective has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433; *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997). A claim of ineffective assistance fails if the defendant fails to prove either one of these requirements. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719; *State v. Taylor*, 2004 WI App 81, ¶ 14, 272 Wis. 2d 642, 679 N.W.2d 893.

To prove that his attorney's performance was deficient the defendant must overcome a strong presumption that reasonably, and establish that counsel's counsel acted representation fell below an objective standard reasonableness. State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 60, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115; Thiel, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19; State v. Johnson, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 217, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986). The reasonableness of an attorney's acts is judged deferentially on the facts of the particular case viewed from counsel's contemporary perspective to eliminate the distortion of hindsight. State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583; *Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d at 217.

Deficient performance is prejudicial when it is so reasonably probable that the result of the proceeding would have been different without the error that a court cannot have confidence in the reliability of the existing outcome. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 26; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 20.

It is not enough for a defendant to speculate on what the result of the proceeding might have been if his attorney had not erred. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 774, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999); *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 48, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994); *State v. Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d 174, 187, 500 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1993). When the defendant alleges that his attorney was ineffective for failing to take some action, he must show with specificity what that action would have accomplished if it had been taken, and how its accomplishment would have probably altered the result of the proceeding. *State v. Byrge*, 225 Wis. 2d 702, 724, 594 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd*, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477; *Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d at 48.

On appeal the circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 19, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334; State ex rel. Flores v. State, 183 Wis. 2d 587, 609, 516 N.W.2d 362 (1994). See Thiel, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 23. Findings are clearly erroneous when they are contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the credible evidence supporting a different finding. Noll v. Dimiceli's, Inc., 115 Wis. 2d 641, 644, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983).

Whether counsel's performance was deficient and/or prejudicial to the defense are questions of law which are determined independently. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 23.

A. Counsel was not ineffective for declining to object to evidence regarding the percent of reported child sexual assaults that have been found to be true, which could have been admitted under the rule of curative admissibility.

## 1. Morales-Pedrosa failed to prove that his attorney performed deficiently.

The state's expert on child sexual assaults testified without objection that in her experience "when you're eliminating the alternative hypotheses, i[t] i[s] commonly understood that approximately 90 percent of reported cases are true" (119:149, 200).

The attorney who represented the defendant-appellant, Esequiel Morales-Pedrosa, at his trial testified at the postconviction *Machner* hearing that he decided not to object to this testimony because, among other things, having raised the issue of false allegations, he believed the state's evidence was "fair game" (124:15-16).

When attempting to show that an attorney performed deficiently by declining to object to evidence, the defendant must establish that there was a reason to object because the evidence was inadmissible. *See State v. Ewing*, 2005 WI App 206, ¶ 18, 287 Wis. 2d 327, 704 N.W.2d 405.

That is not the end of the inquiry but only the necessary predicate. The defendant must also show that his attorney's failure to object to the inadmissible evidence was objectively unreasonable. *See Mayo*, 301 Wis. 2d 642, ¶ 60; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19; *Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d at 217. *See also State v. Koller*, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 53, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838, *modified on other grounds, State v. Schaefer*, 2003 WI App 164, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760 (the question is not whether an attorney is

able to articulate an adequate subjective reason for his actions, but whether the actions were objectively reasonable).

There is a range of reasonableness, *Chen v. Warner*, 2005 WI 55, ¶ 37 n.24, 280 Wis. 2d 344, 695 N.W.2d 758, permitting different people to reasonably make different decisions in the same circumstances. *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, ¶ 58, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777; *State v. Robinson*, 146 Wis. 2d 315, 330, 431 N.W.2d 165 (1988).

When different people can reasonably make different decisions, there is a limited right to be wrong. *State v. Jeske*, 197 Wis. 2d 905, 913, 541 N.W.2d 225 (Ct. App. 1995). To be reasonable is not to be perfect, so a decision can be perfectly reasonable even though it is mistaken. *Heien v. North Carolina*, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014); *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 44, \_\_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_\_, \_\_ N.W.2d \_\_\_, 2015 WL 4208659. Thus, the test for ineffective assistance of counsel does not assess the legal correctness of counsel's judgments, but the reasonableness of those judgments under the circumstances of the case. *State v. Weber*, 174 Wis. 2d 98, 115, 496 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1993).

In particular, an attorney is not ineffective for making what in retrospect appears to be an error of judgment on law that is unsettled. *State v. Van Buren*, 2008 WI App 26, ¶¶ 18-19, 307 Wis. 2d 447, 746 N.W.2d 545; *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 23; *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 84, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994).

At the time of Morales-Pedrosa's trial in October 2013, the law regarding the admissibility of statistical evidence concerning the number of children who fabricate claims of sexual assault was not settled in this state.

It still isn't. Defense counsel testified at the postconviction hearing that he was aware of other cases where

the same expert was allowed to testify regarding the number of truthful child sexual assault allegations (124:14-15). Morales-Pedrosa relies exclusively on cases from other jurisdictions to argue that this evidence is inadmissible because it impermissibly vouches for the credibility of the complainant. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 9-10.

Similarly uncertain was the question whether such statistical evidence, even if ordinarily inadmissible, could still be admitted under the rule of invited response, or more correctly in this case, the rule of curative admissibility.

The rules are essentially the same in that if one party does something improper, the other party gets to do something similarly improper to respond. The rule of invited response applies to arguments, *see State v. Wolff*, 171 Wis. 2d 161, 168-69, 491 N.W.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1992), while the rule of curative admissibility applies to evidence. *See State v. Dunlap*, 2002 WI 19,  $\P$  32, 250 Wis. 2d 466, 640 N.W.2d 112.

In *State v. Hernandez*, 192 Wis. 2d 251, 256, 531 N.W.2d 348 (Ct. App. 1995), this court held that statistical evidence regarding the number of children who fabricate claims of sexual assault was admissible under the rule of invited response, i.e., curative admissibility, because the defendant raised the issue by asking the state's expert on cross-examination whether she was aware of instances where children fabricated stories of sexual assault.

The court said, "The reason this is an invited response is because Hernandez elicited an admission that children may fabricate. The prosecutor was entitled to rehabilitate the expert to explain that fabrication was not common." *Hernandez*, 192 Wis. 2d at 256.

But *Hernandez* was overruled in *State v. Eugenio*, 219 Wis. 2d 391, 404, 579 N.W.2d 642 (1998). Although the supreme court disagreed with *Hernandez* on other grounds, nothing in that case remains as citable precedent under the rule of *Blum v.* 1<sup>st</sup> *Auto & Casualty Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI 78, 326 Wis. 2d 729, 786 N.W.2d 78.

So while the *Hernandez* case itself is clearly not citable precedent,<sup>1</sup> it remains an unsettled question whether the reasoning of that case continues to reflect a valid legal analysis that could be resurrected in another case. An attorney could reasonably believe that it could.

As a general proposition, "[w]hen a party opens the door on a subject, he cannot complain if the opposing party offers evidence on the same subject to explain, counteract, or disprove the evidence." *State v. Richardson*, 2001 WI App 152, ¶ 11, 246 Wis. 2d 711, 632 N.W.2d 84.

Under the Wisconsin version of the rule of curative admissibility, "when one party accidentally or purposefully takes advantage of a piece of evidence that is otherwise inadmissible, the court may, in its discretion, allow the opposing party to introduce otherwise inadmissible evidence if it is required by the concept of fundamental fairness to cure some unfair prejudice." *Dunlap*, 250 Wis. 2d 466, ¶ 32.

Here, an attorney could reasonably believe that he opened the door by cross-examining the state's expert about "alternative hypotheses."

Morales-Pedrosa's attorney elicited testimony that when a child alleges she has been sexually assaulted, one hypothesis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>*Hernandez* is not being cited in this brief as either controlling or persuasive precedent but for its legal history.

is that the allegation is true, while an alternative hypothesis is that the allegation is either mistaken or false (119:182). The expert admitted that both of these hypotheses could be possible (119:182).

The expert then stated that in her experience working with law enforcement she often developed alternative hypotheses based on the facts of the case (119:182).

The trier of fact can choose among conflicting inferences that may be supported by the same evidence, and can adopt the inference that is consistent with guilt instead of innocence. *State v. Bodoh,* 226 Wis. 2d 718, 727-28, 595 N.W.2d 330 (1999); *State v. Poellinger,* 153 Wis. 2d 493, 504, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). *See also State v. Hoffman,* 106 Wis. 2d 185, 221, 316 N.W.2d 143 (Ct. App. 1982)(in the absence of a specific restriction for one issue or purpose, testimony can be used for any issue or purpose).

One inference that could be drawn from testimony that alternative hypotheses of mistake or fabrication could often be developed from the facts is that children often made allegations of sexual assault that were mistaken or false.

As the cases cited by Morales-Pedrosa suggest, this would be a logical but legally impermissible inference because it could be an indirect comment on the credibility of the victim in this case. If children who reported sexual assaults often lied or erred, the chances that the victim in this case falsely or mistakenly accused Morales-Pedrosa of sexually assaulting her were considerably increased.

Therefore, Morales-Pedrosa's attorney could reasonably believe that the evidence presented by the state, that in approximately ninety percent of reported cases the alternative hypothesis that the child lied or was mistaken could be eliminated, was properly admitted to cure the potentially misleading evidence he had introduced.

This conclusion could come well within the rationale of the *Hernandez* case. If this court reasoned that statistical evidence of the veracity of child sexual assault victims could be properly admitted under the rule of curative admissibility when the defense introduced evidence that children may fabricate claims of sexual assault, it is possible that in a fresh case the court would use the same reasoning to approve the introduction of this kind of evidence when the defense introduced evidence indicating that children often fabricate claims of sexual assault.

The circuit court stated that "there was an invited response here based on the defendant's own actions" (125:32-33). This ruling, while not entirely clear, seems to have agreed with the prosecutor's position that the statistical evidence was admissible as an invited response to evidence introduced by the defense "about children at the macro level lying" (125:10-12).

Because Morales-Pedrosa's attorney could have declined to object to the state's statistical evidence because he could have reasonably believed it would be admissible under the curative admissibility rule, Morales-Pedrosa has failed to prove that his attorney performed deficiently.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Morales-Pedrosa also asserts that the reliability of the expert's testimony is suspect. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 10-11. But reliability is a question of fact for the jury. *State v. Fischer*, 2008 WI App 152, ¶ 21, 314 Wis. 2d 324, 761 N.W.2d 7; *Ricco v. Riva*, 2003 WI App 182, ¶ 21, 266 Wis. 2d 696, 669 N.W.2d 193. It is not an issue to be litigated on appeal based on a single thirty year old article in a professional journal. And at most it only shows that there is another issue that is unsettled.

### 2. Morales-Pedrosa failed to prove that he was prejudiced.

Under the unique combination of circumstances in this case, Morales-Pedrosa failed to prove that he was prejudiced by the presentation of statistical evidence concerning the percent of children who fabricate claims of sexual assault.

This was not direct evidence that the expert witness believed the victim was telling the truth. The expert made clear that she never interviewed, and never even met, the victim (119:177), so she had no way of knowing whether the victim was actually telling the truth or not.

However, the victim's school counselor, who had many contacts with her, testified that in his opinion the victim was always honest and never lied (118:166, 186). See Wis. Stat. § 904.05(1) (2013-14) (trait of character may be proved by opinion). So there was direct evidence that there was not just a ninety percent chance that the victim was telling the truth because ninety percent of other children told the truth, but virtually a 100 percent chance that the victim was telling the truth because she always told the truth.

The court's instructions told the jury that they were not bound by any expert's opinion (121:93). They were also told that they were the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses, and should consider a number of factors in determining whether a witness was credible (121:94-95). Thus, the jury was told that regardless of anyone else's opinion, direct or indirect, about the victim's credibility, they were supposed to judge her credibility for themselves.

Most importantly, the evidence showed that at first the victim did not make any detailed accusations of sexual assault, even when pressed by her school counselor and a child

protective service investigator (118:171, 178, 180, 189, 201-04). The victim even told her mother that Morales-Pedrosa was not touching her (119:43).

It was not until the victim's mother went to the police station to get a restraining order against Morales-Pedrosa because of their domestic difficulties that the victim finally felt free to report that he had been sexually assaulting her (118:90, 133; 119:53).

The victim told the investigating detective on May 14, 2012, that the first time Morales-Pedrosa sexually assaulted her was in November or December of 2008, between Halloween and Christmas, when she was thirteen years old and in the seventh grade at Washington Middle School (119:129, 131, 133).

The victim stated that on that occasion,

"My dad had told my mom that he needed a pair of boots and sent her to the store to get him some. After my mom had left, my dad ordered me into his bedroom and he shut the door. My brothers and sisters were home but were in their own rooms. My dad started yelling at me and then he told me to take my clothes off. I said no, and he then started taking them off himself. I started to fight him, but he would hit me on my arms and fact with his hands and his belt.

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